
PLEASE NOTE THE MEETING START TIME

MEETING OF THE CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND SCHOOLS 
SCRUTINY COMMISSION

DATE: WEDNESDAY, 22 JULY 2015 
TIME: 5:45 pm
PLACE: Meeting Room G.01, Ground Floor, City Hall, 115 Charles 

Street, Leicester, LE1 1FZ

Members of the Commission

Councillor Dr Moore (Chair)
Councillor Cole (Vice-Chair)

Councillors Aldred, Chohan, Grant, Gugnani, Malik and Senior

Co-opted Members (Voting)
Mohammed Alauddin Al-Azad Parent Governor Representative (Primary/Special Needs)
Carolyn Lewis Church of England Diocese
Bernard Monaghan Roman Catholic Diocese
Vacancy Parent Governor (Secondary School)

Standing Invitees (Non-Voting)
Youth Representatives x 4
Peter Flack Teaching Unions
Gary Garner Union Representative
Ms Rabiha Hannan Faith Representative (Muslim)
Anu Kapur Leicester Secular Society
Vacancy Faith Representative (Sikh)
Vacancy Faith Representative (Hindu)

Members of the Committee are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business 
listed overleaf.

For the Monitoring Officer
Officer contacts:

Anita Patel (Scrutiny Policy Officer)
Elaine Baker (Democratic Support Officer),

Tel: 0116 454 6355, e-mail: elaine.baker@leicester.gov.uk
Leicester City Council, City Hall, 115 Charles Street, Leicester, LE1 1FZ



Information for members of the public

Attending meetings and access to information

You have the right to attend formal meetings such as full Council, committee meetings, City Mayor & 
Executive Public Briefing and Scrutiny Commissions and see copies of agendas and minutes. On 
occasion however, meetings may, for reasons set out in law, need to consider some items in private. 

Dates of meetings and copies of public agendas and minutes are available on the Council’s website 
at www.cabinet.leicester.gov.uk, from the Council’s Customer Service Centre or by contacting us 
using the details below. 

Making meetings accessible to all

Wheelchair access – Public meeting rooms at the City Hall are accessible to wheelchair users.  
Wheelchair access to City Hall is from the middle entrance door on Charles Street - press the plate on 
the right hand side of the door to open the door automatically.

Braille/audio tape/translation - If you require this please contact the Democratic Support Officer 
(production times will depend upon equipment/facility availability).

Induction loops - There are induction loop facilities in City Hall meeting rooms.  Please speak to the 
Democratic Support Officer using the details below.

Filming and Recording the Meeting - The Council is committed to transparency and supports efforts to 
record and share reports of proceedings of public meetings through a variety of means, including 
social media.  In accordance with government regulations and the Council’s policy, persons and press 
attending any meeting of the Council open to the public (except Licensing Sub Committees and where 
the public have been formally excluded) are allowed to record and/or report all or part of that meeting.  
Details of the Council’s policy are available at www.leicester.gov.uk or from Democratic Support.

If you intend to film or make an audio recording of a meeting you are asked to notify the relevant 
Democratic Support Officer in advance of the meeting to ensure that participants can be notified in 
advance and consideration given to practicalities such as allocating appropriate space in the public 
gallery etc.

The aim of the Regulations and of the Council’s policy is to encourage public interest and 
engagement so in recording or reporting on proceedings members of the public are asked:

 to respect the right of others to view and hear debates without interruption;
 to ensure that the sound on any device is fully muted and intrusive lighting avoided;
 where filming, to only focus on those people actively participating in the meeting;
 where filming, to (via the Chair of the meeting) ensure that those present are aware that they 

may be filmed and respect any requests to not be filmed.

Further information 

If you have any queries about any of the above or the business to be discussed, please contact:
Elaine Baker, Democratic Support Officer on 0116 454 6355.
Alternatively, email elaine.baker@leicester.gov.uk, or call in at City Hall.

For Press Enquiries - please phone the Communications Unit on 0116 454 4151.

http://www.cabinet.leicester.gov.uk/
http://www.leicester.gov.uk/


PUBLIC SESSION

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are asked to declare any interests they may have in the business to 
be discussed. 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING Appendix A

The minutes of the meeting of the Children, Young People and Schools 
Scrutiny Commission held on 24 February 2015 are attached and Members are 
asked to confirm them as a correct record. 

4. PETITIONS 

The Monitoring Officer to report on the receipt of any petitions received. 

5. QUESTIONS, REPRESENTATIONS AND 
STATEMENTS OF CASE 

The Monitoring Officer to report on the receipt of any questions, 
representations or statements of case received. 

6. TERMS OF REFERENCE Appendix B

Members are asked to note the Terms of Reference for the Children, Young People and 
Schools Scrutiny Commission, (attached). 

7. MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMISSION 2015/16 

Members are asked to note the membership of the Commission for 2015/16:-

Councillor Dr Moore (Chair)
Councillor Cole (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Aldred
Councillor Chohan
Councillor Grant 
Councillor Gugnani
Councillor Malik
Councillor Senior 

8. DATES OF COMMISSION MEETINGS 2015/16 

Members are asked to note the meeting dates of the Commission for the 
2015/16 municipal year:-



Thursday 9 July 2015
Thursday 3 September 2015
Thursday 15 October 2015
Thursday 3 December 2015
Tuesday 28 January 2016
Thursday 24 March 2016 

9. INTRODUCTION TO THE COUNCIL'S EDUCATION 
AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES 

Appendix C

The Strategic Director Education and Children’s Services will provide an 
overview of the Council’s Education and Children services. 

10. CORPORATE PARENTING ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15 Appendix D

The Strategic Director Children’s Services submits a report providing an 
overview of activity governed by Leicester City’s Corporate Parenting Forum 
over the last 12 months, (2014/15).  The Commission is recommended to 
consider the Report and pass any comments to the Executive for consideration 
when it received the Report. 

11. LESSONS LEARNED FROM THE RECENT OFSTED 
INSPECTION OF SERVICES FOR CHILDREN IN NEED 
OF HELP AND PROTECTION, CHILDREN LOOKED 
AFTER AND CARE LEAVERS AND REVIEW OF THE 
EFFECTIVENESS OF THE LOCAL SAFEGUARDING 
CHILDREN BOARD 

To consider a proposal by the Chair that a Task Group is established to 
consider the lessons learned from the above report. 

12. WORK PROGRAMME Appendix E

A draft work programme for the Commission is attached.  The Commission is 
asked to consider this and make comments and/or amendments as it considers 
necessary. 

13. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS 



 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Minutes of the Meeting of the 
CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND SCHOOLS SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
 
Held: TUESDAY, 24 FEBRUARY 2015 at 5:30 pm 
 
 

P R E S E N T : 
 

Councillor Willmott (Chair)  
Councillor Unsworth (Vice Chair) 

 
Councillor Clarke Councillor Dr Moore 

  
Co-opted Members (Voting) 

 
Mr Bernard Monaghan Roman Catholic Diocese 
Ms Carolyn Lewis  Church of England Diocese 
Mr Mohammed Alauddin Al-Azad Parent Governor (Primary / 

Special Needs 
  

 
Standing Invitees (Non-Voting) 

 
Brahmpreet Kaur Gulati Youth Representative 
Nikhil Gondalia  Youth Representative 
Ms Rabiha Hannan  Muslim Faith Representative 
Anu Kapur   Leicester Secular Society 
Peter Flack   Teaching Unions 
 

* * *   * *   * * * 
 
66. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bhatti and Cleaver. 

 
67. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
 Councillor Dr Moore declared an Other Disclosable Interest in the general 

business of the meeting, as her company was teaching a Looked After Child, 
and also that she was the sole publisher of a book which was supplied into 

 

1

Appendix A



 

2 
 

schools. 
 
In accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, those interests were not 
considered so significant that they were likely to prejudice the Councillor’s 
judgement of public interest. Councillor Dr Moore was not, therefore, required 
to withdraw from the meeting. 
 

68. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
 Members of the commission were asked to confirm the minutes of the previous 

meeting held on 6 January 2015. 
 
Ms Rabiha Hannan (Faith Representative) requested additions to the minutes 
as follows: 
 
Minute item 60. Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report, final 
paragraph on  page 5: 
 
Rabiha Hannan questioned whether the Board had undertaken any work, prior 
to the Prevent initiative, to avoid radicalisation and/or extremism in young 
people. She stated that no religion would legitimise radicalisation and that the 
Council and other partners should not be afraid to tackle this issue for the fear 
of upsetting any religion. 
 
(Addition to the minute text in italics) 
 
Minute item 62: Early Years Prevention Stage and Key Stage 1 Education 
Attainment Results 2014, page 11, first paragraph 
 
Rabiha Hannan (Faith Representative), addressed the commission at the 
invitation of the Chair, and stated that whilst pleased with the progress that the 
Council was making to address improvement, she expressed concern at the 
level of improvement reported and asked if there were identified patterns 
relating to deprivation and poverty and to ethnic minorities and cultures. 
 
(Addition to the minute text in italics) 
 
RESOLVED: 

that the minutes of the meeting of the Children, Young People 
and Schools’ Scrutiny Commission held on 6 January 2015, 
subject to the above amendments, be confirmed as a correct 
record. 

 
69. PETITIONS 
 
 The Monitoring Officer reported that no petitions had been received. 

 
70. QUESTIONS, REPRESENTATIONS AND STATEMENTS OF CASE 
 
 The Monitoring Officer reported that no questions, representations or 

2



 

3 
 

statements of case had been received. 
 

71. EDUCATION ATTAINMENT RESULTS: KEY STAGES 2 AND 4, 2015 
 
 The Interim Director, Learning Services submitted a report which reviewed the 

outcomes for children in Leicester schools at the end of Key Stage 2 (Primary) 
and Key Stage 4 (GCSE). 
 
KEY STAGE 2 
 
Councillor Dempster, Assistant Mayor for Children, Young People and Schools, 
introduced the report and stated that there was an improving picture in Key 
Stage 2 as more children than ever before were reaching Level 5. The report 
demonstrated that the Council were aspirational for their young people; 
however it was recognised that there was a need to drive forward further 
improvements, and to this effect the Council were working in partnerships with 
schools. 
 
The Interim Director, Learning Services confirmed that the Council supported 
any schools which were causing concern; this was a statutory duty.  In addition 
the Council were supporting and encouraging peer to peer schools. The Interim 
Director had just recently been appointed to the post but in respect of peer to 
peer schools had started to work with a small group of primary and secondary 
head teachers in order to find a sustainable way forward. 
 
Members considered the report and during the ensuing discussion a number of 
points were made, including the following: 
 

• Schools in the city had been working on a collaborative approach for 
approximately five years. There were successful innovative schools 
working with others to help them become self- improving. 
 

• Concerns were expressed at the level of attainment amongst boys and 
that this needed to be addressed as a priority. 
 

• A query was raised as to whether parents in general were aware of the 
expectation that children should progress by one level every two years. 
 
It was noted that Ofsted judged progress by one level as ‘satisfactory’. 
There was however an expectation that some pupils would progress by 
two or more levels. 

 

• A concern was also raised about parents that had low attainment levels 
and the effect that this had on their children’s learning. It was noted that 
there was some good practice of schools working with parents and a 
case study could be shared if wished. 

 

• The city’s position in relation to the national average was noted and a 
query was raised as to what Leicester needed to do to catch up with that 
national average. The statistics showed a slow improvement over time 

3



 

4 
 

and it was queried whether this improvement could take place at a faster 
place. 

 
The Interim Director, Learning Services responded that they were 
setting challenging targets as part of strategies to bridge that gap. 

 

• Concerns were expressed at the general emphasis on statutory test 
results. A member commented that they were meant to be a guide on 
what schools were achieving but this was no longer the case as some 
parents were paying for their children to have private tuition to improve 
their test results. There were also concerns that some schools, though 
not necessarily in the city, placed undue emphasis on their pupils’ 
achieving good test results to the exclusion of other aspects of the 
curriculum. 
 

• Comments were made that Leicester’s test results were good, in view of 
the complex issues that the city faced, such as deprivation and the 
number of pupils with English as a second language. Alternate views 
were expressed however that such issues should not be used to excuse 
levels of performance and that SATs results demonstrated that children 
who had English as a second language achieved well. 
 

• A view was expressed that there was a need to move away from targets 
and that it was important to consider the child’s journey as a whole. 
Further to this, a comment was made that progress was a key issue of a 
child’s journey. 
 

• Suggestions were made that it would be more appropriate to compare 
Leicester to similar authorities rather than the country as a whole. An 
alternative view was expressed that Leicester would be judged by this 
data and that people would make comparisons against the national data 
rather than comparator authorities.  
 

• A member of the Youth Council questioned whether any Leicester 
schools were providing the opportunity for pupils to enter Level 6 SATs, 
The Interim Director, Learning Services replied that Level 6 SATs were 
taking place and this data would be shared with the Youth Council. 
 

• A request was made for information on the number of schools that were 
making the expected progress and the number of schools that were not 
achieving this. 
 

Assistant City Mayor Dempster said that there was some inconsistency across 
schools but taking education results on their own was not that helpful. The 
important issue was what the council were doing. There were some excellent 
results and very good schools sharing good practice. The Assistant City Mayor 
suggested that it might be helpful to bring a report to the commission that 
addressed education results as well as the steps the council were taking to 
bring about further improvements. 
 

4



 

5 
 

The Chair agreed that this would be helpful in order to ascertain how the 
initiatives impacted on performance and whether the council were doing 
enough or whether more needed to be done. He added that the commission 
used to receive quarterly performance reports and it would be helpful to 
reinstate these. It was also suggested that it would be useful for the 
commission to receive details of the council’s own assessment of their schools. 

 
 
KEY STAGE 4 
 
The Commission then considered the education attainment results for pupils in 
Key Stage 4. Assistant City Mayor Dempster explained that it was difficult to 
make comparisons against previous years because some courses had 
changed in 2013. There had been some very strong results but also some 
disappointing results, some of which were because of the system of re-sitting 
tests. However secondary schools were working very well and supporting each 
other. 
 
During the debate, a number of points were made, including the following: 
 

• Concern was expressed that some schools were consistently failing on 
the English Baccalaureate and it was questioned how the council were 
responding to this. 

 

• The Teaching Unions’ representative reported that that there had been a 
3% increase in the number of pupils achieving 5 A* - Cs at GCSE 
between 2010 and 2014, which bucked the national trend. He said that 
there was a need to recognise that Leicester had some excellent 
secondary schools. 
 

• A query was raised in relation to the performance results, as to the wider 
determinants that needed to be taken into account. The Strategic 
Director, Children’s Services concurred that performance data only 
formed part of the overall picture and stated that there was also a need 
to look at other factors such as exclusion data, attendance and financial 
management. 
 

• It was noted that some schools entered pupils for their SATs early, as a 
useful form of exam practice, but this could have a detrimental effect on 
their overall performance data if those pupils did not do well in their tests 
and decided to re-sit them. 
 

• New College was mentioned as one of the secondary schools which had 
made vast improvements and a suggestion was made that Members 
could find it useful to visit the college to find out at first- hand what they 
were doing, particularly in relation to literacy. 
 

• It was noted that when looking at the schools on an individual basis, the 
performance of two schools in particular had resulted in an overall lower 
average score, 

5



 

6 
 

 
RESOLVED: 

1) that in respect to Key Stage 2, details in relation to Level 6 
SATs be brought back to a future meeting of the commission; 
 

2) that in relation to Key Stage 2, details of the number of 
schools that were exceeding expected progress be brought to 
a future meeting of the commission; 

 
3) that the good progress in relation to Key Stage 4 be noted; 

 
4) that the commission endorse the aspirational targets; 

 
5) that a report be brought back on the effectiveness of the 

Action Plan; and 
 

6) that the commission request that they receive quarterly 
performance data at future meetings. 

 
72. LEICESTER CITY COUNCIL FOSTERING SERVICE STATEMENT OF 

PURPOSE 2014/2015 
 
 The Interim Director, Children, Young People and Families presented the 

Leicester City Council Fostering Service Statement of Purpose and stated that 
it was important to acknowledge the work of the city’s foster carers, as they 
held a very important role.  
 
The commission heard about the ‘Staying Put’ Policy which set out the 
conditions to extend a fostering arrangement beyond a young person’s 18th 
birthday. It was noted that the policy made provision for a young person with 
issues of vulnerability to remain with their foster carer for a further year after 
their 18th birthday. Concerns were raised that this might not be long enough 
and that more time might be needed for that young person to make the 
transition to independent living.  The Interim Director responded that this was 
an issue that they could look at; however there might be budget implications as 
‘Staying Put’ was not fully funded by the government. 
 
Assistant City Mayor Dempster commented that there were many implications 
with young people moving into independent living and it would be helpful if the 
scrutiny commission looked at this further.  
 
In response to a query, the Interim Director, Children, Young People and 
Families explained that the Statement of Purpose provided a partial picture as 
it only included children placed with the council’s own foster carers. About 1/3 
of children were placed with other agencies. 
 
A query was raised as to safeguarding measures in relation to kinship carers 
and the Interim Director advised that full viability assessments and 
safeguarding checks were carried out. 
 

6



 

7 
 

Members referred to the Pathway Reviews which were held to plan young 
people’s transition to independent living. Views were expressed that the 
reviews were held mostly with just the young person and their advisor and that 
more professionals should be involved. The young person should also agree as 
to who should be invited. Concerns were expressed that the Pathway Plan 
Reviews currently commenced after the young person’s 16th birthday and it 
was felt that this was too late and they should commence just after the 13th or 
14th birthday. 
 
RESOLVED: 

1) that the report be noted; and 
 

2) that the Scrutiny Commission look further at leaving care 
arrangements for young people and Pathway Support being 
provided for young people from the age of 14. 

 
73. ANNUAL REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT REVIEWING OFFICERS 

SERVICE (LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN/YOUNG PEOPLE) 2013-14 
 
 Members were asked to consider the Annual Report of the Independent 

Reviewing Offices’ Service for Looked After Children and Young People 2013-
14. 
 
The Interim Director, Children, Young People and Families explained that an 
Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) was not a social worker, but their role 
was to review the care plan and act independently of the social worker. 
 
Concerns were expressed as to whether the staffing levels in the service were 
adequate and that there might be too much pressure on relatively few officers. 
The Interim Director responded that this issue was under consideration 
because it was recognised that there were insufficient IROs and that their case-
loads were too high. The Chair stated that the role of the IRO was very 
important and the commission would wish to support any measure to address 
their staffing levels and workload. 
 
RESOLVED: 

that the commission note the report and support any action to 
reduce the case load of the Independent Reviewing Officers, 
including increasing the number of officers if necessary. 

 
74. YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2014-15 
 
 The Strategic Director, Children’s Services submitted a report that summarised 

how Youth Justice Services in the City would be provided and funded and how 
the Youth Offending Team would be composed and funded; how it would 
operate and what functions it would carry out. The Head of Service, Early Help 
and Specialist Services presented the report and explained that the plan was 
retrospective and the views of the commission were sought as to what should 
be included in the next plan. 
 

7



 

8 
 

Members of the commission requested that the next plan should include more 
detail and qualitative information.  The Head of Service agreed to this request. 
 
RESOLVED: 

that the commission note the report and look forward to receiving 
the next plan at a future meeting, prior to submission. 

 
75. WORK PROGRAMME 
 
 There was no discussion on the work programme. 

 
76. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS 
 
 Councillor Dr Moore thanked the Chair and Vice Chair of the Children, Young 

People and Schools Scrutiny Commission for chairing so efficiently during the 
past year.  
 

77. CLOSE OF MEETING 
 
 The meeting closed at 7.45 pm. 

 

8



SCRUTINY COMMITTEES: TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Scrutiny Committees hold the executive and partners to account by reviewing and 
scrutinising policy and practices. Scrutiny Committees will have regard to the 
Political Conventions and the Scrutiny Operating Protocols and Handbook in fulfilling 
their work. 

The Overview and Select Committee and each Scrutiny Commission will perform the 
role as set out in Article 8 of the Constitution in relation to the functions set out in its 
Terms of Reference. 

Scrutiny Committees may:- 

1. Review and scrutinise the decisions made by and performance of the City 
Mayor, Executive, Committees and Council officers both in relation to 
individual decisions and over time. 

2. Develop policy, generate ideas, review and scrutinise the performance of the 
Council in relation to its policy objectives, performance targets and/or 
particular service areas. 

3. Question the City Mayor, members of the Executive, committees and 
Directors about their decisions and performance, whether generally in 
comparison with service plans and targets over a period of time, or in relation 
to particular decisions, initiatives or projects.

4. Make recommendations to the City Mayor, Executive, committees and the 
Council arising from the outcome of the scrutiny process. 

5.  Review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area and 
invite reports from them by requesting them to address the Scrutiny 
Committee and local people about their activities and performance; and 

6.  Question and gather evidence from any person (with their consent). 

Annual report: The Overview Select Committee will report annually to Full Council 
on its work and make recommendations for future work programmes and amended 
working methods if appropriate. Scrutiny Commissions / committees will report from 
time to time as appropriate to Council. 

The Scrutiny Committees which have currently been established by the Council in 
accordance with Article 8 of the Constitution are: 

 Overview Select Committee (OSC) 
 Adult Social Care Scrutiny Commission 
 Children, Young People and Schools Scrutiny Commission 
 Economic Development, Transport and Tourism Scrutiny Commission 
 Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny Commission 

9

Appendix B



 Heritage, Culture, Leisure and Sport Scrutiny Commission 
 Housing Scrutiny Commission 
 Neighbourhood Services and Community Involvement Scrutiny Commission 

SCRUTINY COMMISSIONS 

Scrutiny Commissions will: 

 Be aligned with the appropriate Executive portfolio. 

 Normally undertake overview of Executive work, reviewing items for Executive 
decision where it chooses. 

 Engage in policy development within its remit. 

 Normally be attended by the relevant Executive Member, who will be a 
standing invitee. 

 Have their own work programme and will make recommendations to the 
Executive where appropriate. 

 Consider requests by the Executive to carry forward items of work and report 
to the Executive as appropriate. 

 Report on their work to Council from time to time as required. 

 Be classed as specific Scrutiny Committees in terms of legislation but will 
refer cross cutting work to the OSC. 

 Consider the training requirements of Members who undertake Scrutiny and 
seek to secure such training as appropriate. 

10



 

11

A
ppendix C





CORPORATE PARENTING ANNUAL 
REPORT 2014/15

Decision to be taken by: City Mayor & Executive
Decision to be taken:  

 Lead Director: Frances Craven, Strategic Director
Children’s Services

13

Appendix D



2 | P a g e

Useful information
 Ward(s) affected: all
 Report author: Cheriel O’Neill, Head of Service Looked After Children 
 Author contact details: 0116 4546512 cheriel.oneill@leicester.com
 Report version number plus Code No from Report Tracking Database: 1

1. Purpose of report

The annual report provides an overview of activity governed by Leicester City’s 
Corporate Parenting Forum over the last 12 months.  This report informs on the 
achievements, developments and challenges for the Corporate Parenting Forum and 
how the work of the forum directly impacts on the outcomes for Looked After Children 
and Care Leavers. (Appendix 1)

2. Summary

Looked After Children (LAC) are children and young people in public care. LAC is the 
collective responsibility of all Council Officers, Elected Members and partners.  
Corporate Parenting requirements constitute the formal and local partnerships needed 
between all departments in the local authority, associated agencies and all responsible 
for working together to meet the needs of LAC.

3. Recommendations

Children, Young People and Schools Scrutiny Commission

2.1.    That the Commission to recommended to consider the Report and pass any 
comments to the Executive for consideration when it received the Report.

Executive 

2.2. That the Executive notes the contents of the report and continues to support the 
business of the Corporate Parenting Forum. 

14



3 | P a g e

2.3. That the Executive notes the revised Terms of Reference and the need for 
continued Representation. ( Appendix 2 )

2.4. That the Executive agrees that the City Mayor is invited to one Corporate 
Parenting Forum per year.

2.5    That the Executive agree that the role and function of the Safeguarding Childrens 
Panel is taken over by the Corporate Parenting Forum.

4. Report/Supporting information including options considered: 

Responsibility for ensuring positive outcomes and life opportunities for LAC rests with 
the City Council and partner agencies. The Corporate Parenting Forum is the 
accountable body for ensuring positive progress is made for LAC, that the activities 
promoting progress encompass education, health and welfare, leisure and holidays 
activities and celebrating culture, ethnicity and diversity. The Corporate Parenting 
Forum endorses the statements in the Children’s Pledge and aims to ensure the 
quality of services fulfil the City Councils promise to Looked After Children. The 
Corporate Parenting Forum also ensures that praise and encouragement is given and 
achievements are recognised and celebrated. 

The Corporate Parenting Forum is chaired by The Assistant Mayor for Children; The 
Strategic Director for Children is the vice-chair. The forum has representation that 
includes Children in Care Council, Elected Members, and Senior Officers from across 
the council directorates, Local Partnerships, Connexions, Foster Carers and Health.

In January 2015 the Local Authority was inspected and the outcome of the inspection 
judged, services to Looked After Children and Care leavers as Requiring Improvement 
and Adoption Services as Good. 
 Ofsted inspection highlighted the lack of performance reporting available to the 
corporate parenting forum. This gave rise to question that the forum’s ability to have a 
sufficient understanding of the performance of local services and their impact on all 
outcomes for children looked after and care leavers. The main areas for improvement 
are embedded in the Leicester City Children’s Improvement Board Action Plan. This 
will determine the priority areas for the Corporate Parenting forum and the performance 
data reporting needed for the forum to understand and drive proactively the outcomes 
for LAC across the partnership.    These include: 

• Numbers of Care leavers not in Education Employment or Training 
• Care Leavers in suitable accommodation
• Educational Attainment
• Health assessments and review assessments
• Foster Carer Reviews 

15



4 | P a g e

• Quality of Care Plans and Pathway Plans 
• Children missing from Care and Education 
   
The Corporate Parenting Forum, the work of the Corporate Parenting Executive, 
Children In Care Council and Pledge are detailed in Appendix one. In order to monitor 
and ensure active partnership contribution to the Forum arrangements will be reviewed 
and agreed with the new Lead Member For Children. The arrangements will need to 
ensure   . 
• Commitment from other council departments 
• Commitment from partner agencies 
• Increased involvement and contribution from LAC in informing and improving 

service delivery.
• Implement changes in the Care Planning regulation and prepare for changes in 

requirements relating to extending the age of Care Leavers support and 
alternative provision. 

Previous arrangements to ensure political alignment with the wider children’s agenda 
were established through the Safeguarding Children Panel. In order to ensure 
transparent governance and accountability, all prior responsibility of the Safeguarding 
Children Panel will now be vested to the Corporate Parenting Forum. Arrangements 
will be in place to facilitate and support elected members in meeting their 
responsibilities of playing a key part in contributing to the overall safeguarding 
arrangements for children and young people.

5. Financial, legal and other implications

5.1 Financial implications

There are no financial implications arising from this report.
Martin Judson, Financial Services ext. 39 7500

5.2 Legal implications 

There are no direct legal implications arising from the report.
Pretty Patel, Principal Lawyer (Social Care & Safeguarding) ext.: 37 1457

16



5 | P a g e

5.3 Climate Change and Carbon Reduction implications 

There are no climate change implications associated with this report.
Mark Jeffcote, Environment Team ext.: 37 2251

5.4 Equalities Implications

This report applies for all Looked After Children .There are no equality implications for 
any specific group. 

5.5 Other Implications (You will need to have considered other implications in 
preparing this report.  Please indicate which ones apply?)

None 

6.  Background information and other papers: 

7. Summary of appendices: 

Appendix 1: Corporate Parenting Annual Report 2014/5
Appendix 2: Terms of Reference

8.  Is this a private report (If so, please indicated the reasons and state why it is 
not in the public interest to be dealt with publicly)? 
No

9.  Is this a “key decision”?  
No

10. If a key decision please explain reason
N/A

17



6 | P a g e

APPENDIX 1

Corporate Parenting Annual Report 2014/5

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 This annual report provides an overview of the progress made by Leicester 
City’s Corporate Parenting forum over the last 12 months.  This report informs on the 
achievements, developments and challenges of the Corporate Parenting Forum and 
how the work of the forum directly impacts on the outcomes for Looked After Children 
and Care Leavers.

1.2 Looked After Children (LAC) are Children and Young People in Public Care. 
LAC is the collective responsibility of all Council Officers, Elected Members and 
partners.  Corporate Parenting requirements constitute the formal and local 
partnerships needed between all departments in the local authority, associated 
agencies and all responsible for working together to meet the needs of LAC. The 
council requires officers to think about how their work contributes to improving 
outcomes for LAC. The role of corporate parent is to seek for LAC the outcomes that 
every good parent would want for their own children.

1.3 The Corporate Parenting Forum provides a focal point for the interests of LAC 
and Care Leavers in Leicester, the forum acts as a representative body for elected 
members in terms of their role as corporate parents. 

2.  Report

2.1. Background

Over the past 12 months there has been an increase in the numbers of Looked After 
between from 540 to 586. This number has not remained consistent but is on an 
upward trajectory.  They fall into 4 main groups:

• Children who are accommodated under a voluntary agreement with their 
parents (section 20)

• Children who are subject of a care order (Section 31) or interim care order 
(Section 38)

• Children who are subject of emergency orders for their protection (Section 44 
and 46)

• Children who are compulsorily accommodated. This includes children remanded 
to the local authority or subject to a criminal justice supervision order with a 
residence requirement. (Section 21).

      

There are approx. 200 Care leavers and within this group there are different statutory 
obligation placed on Local Authorities depending on the care history of the young 
person. 

Corporate Parenting relates to all Children and Young People in these definitions. 

18



7 | P a g e

2.2 Corporate Parenting Forum 

The Corporate Parenting Forum is the accountable body for ensuring positive progress 
is made for LAC in all aspects of their lives. This means the activities promoting 
progress; encompass education, health and welfare, leisure, holiday activities and 
celebrating culture, ethnicity and diversity. The Corporate Parenting Forum endorses 
the statements in the Children’s Pledge and aims to ensure the quality of services fulfil 
the city councils promise to Looked After Children.  The Corporate Parenting Forum 
also ensures that praise and encouragement is given and achievements are 
recognised and celebrated. 

PRIORITIES FOR THE FORUM 

The Ofsted Inspection in January 2015 highlighted the lack of performance reporting 
available to the corporate parenting forum. This gave rise to question that the forums 
ability to have a sufficient understanding of the performance of local services and their 
impact on all outcomes for Children Looked After and Care Leavers. 

The areas for improvement as stated in the Ofsted Report 
•  Ensure that care plans are informed by regular and up-to-date assessments of 

needs.
•  Ensure that initial health assessments for Children looked after take place 

within 28 days of their reception into care.
•  Improve the consistency and quality of personal education plans as a tool to 

improve the educational attainment and achievement of Children looked after.
•  Ensure that effective re-unification plans are agreed by a statutory review and 

that these arrangements are monitored in a timely way following the child’s 
return home.

•  Strengthen the capacity of the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) service to 
fulfil all aspects of the IRO Handbook, particularly enabling them to more 
effectively track and quality assure the progress of care plans in between 
statutory review processes.

•  Improve the timeliness and quality of foster carer reviews and strengthen the 
level of independent oversight provided within reviews.

For Care leavers
•  Ensure that caseloads are at a level that enables personal advisors to work 

proactively with all care leavers allocated to them, including those aged 16 and 
17 years

• Strengthen the pathway review process to ensure that formal reviews take place 
regularly with the contribution of other agencies and are subject to robust 
management oversight.

•  Ensure that risk assessments are undertaken for all young people living in 
unsuitable accommodation.

•  Ensure that care leavers are provided with full information about their health 
histories prior to leaving care.

19



8 | P a g e

The areas highlighted as strength 
• 87% live within 20 miles of their home. 
• The majority of young people placed out of authority are not disadvantaged by 

distance and have appropriate access to health and education services.
•  79% of children looked after are placed with foster carers, higher than statistical 

neighbours and England levels. Appropriate use is also made of kinship 
placements, which enable children to remain with their families and 
communities.

•  Children looked after have good access to therapeutic help and recreational 
leisure opportunities, which promotes their health and well-being.

•  Children with an adoption plan are quickly matched and placed with adopters, 
maximising their life chances in their adoptive homes.

• Post-adoption support is a significant strength, evidenced by the value placed 
on it by adopters and the lack of adoption disruptions.

•  Through the Big Lottery funded Y-POD, care leavers with complex needs have 
been provided with wraparound services which improves their outcomes. These 
benefits are planned to be rolled out to all care leavers in April 2015.

There is now an imperative for the forum to reconsider the forum arrangements to 
ensure that necessary improvements are made. Prior to the inspection it had been 
agreed that there needs to be an authority-wide approach which stated a commitment 
from all Council divisions, Elected Members and partners agencies responsible for 
Looked After Children, directly or indirectly. 

The Corporate Parenting Forum arrangements will need to ensure: 

• Key Performance data, analysis and outcomes are available to the forum 
• The areas for improvement are addressed with clear evidence of the impact of 

service improvement on Looked After Children  
• The areas highlighted as good practice are maintained
• A mechanism is in place to continually monitor, audit  and review the means by 

which their services contribute to positive outcomes for Looked After Children 
and that this is reported systematically to assure the forum of the progress

• Ensure each department will develop and promote employee awareness and 
commitment to the Corporate Parenting and Leaving Care Strategy

• Have policies and practices that promote access to services for looked after 
children and their carers

• Facilitate to achieve participation and inclusion, so that children and young 
people have a say in how decisions are made about the services that affect 
them and that they have an opportunity to influence those decisions.

Over the past year the Corporate Parenting Forum has not met every 2 months. This 
was due to the outcome of the Ofsted Inspection, the departure of Chair, Assistant 
Mayor for Children, and the Interim Arrangements in place prior to council elections in 
May. The challenges over past 12 months have offered an opportunity to redevelop 
Corporate Parenting Forum to better assert the needs of LAC and to fulfil  the 
corporate parenting responsibilities. 

20



9 | P a g e

3. Representation and Support

The Corporate Parenting Forum relies on the involvement and commitment of elected 
members, senior officers across the council, Foster Carers and young people.  It is 
expected that all members of the forum will raise the profile of Looked After Children in 
their respective areas, political forums and settings.

The Representation of the forum will need to be reviewed to ensure a level of 
attendance, monitoring and challenge. Those attending are confirmed as 
representative and have the status to promote, make decision and resource the 
improvements for LAC across the diverse needs of the LAC population.  

This will also mean the Terms of reference will need to be revised.  

3.1 Corporate Parenting Executive 

The priorities of the Forum are supported through the Corporate Parenting Executive. 
The membership and terms of reference for the executive will need to be revised in 
accordance with the new arrangements. . 

4. MAIN ACHIEVEMENTS 2014/15 for Looked After Children 

• Looked After Childrens Services have maintained a stable workforce, ensuring 
that children and young people have a consistent social worker. This has been 
highlighted as a need by the CICC 

• Adoption service has maintained a good rating. There have continued 
improvements in the Performance Indicators relating to adoption timescales 
placing Leicester City are in the top of 30 Local Authorities for Adoption. 

• The implementation of the Care Leavers Offer, has been implemented with 
increasing numbers of Care leavers in a ‘staying put ‘ arrangement or in suitable 
accommodation .  

• There have been improved partnership working between Social Care and Police 
leading to improved processes and responses to Children who go missing. 
Missing from care/home reports are presented to the Children’s Safeguarding 
Panel on a 6 monthly basis.

• Arrangements for providing supervised contact and parenting assessments for 
children in care have greatly improved. This is evidenced through the number of 
commendations received from parents experiencing the service.

• Producing the Leaving Care Entitlement Leaflet 

21



10 | P a g e

  
5. Children’s Pledge/ Children in Care Council 

.
     Children in Care Council views about Corporate Parenting Forum 

• The Children in Care Council has continued to meet monthly and attend 
Corporate Parenting Forum.

• They have been consulted on Service developments and contributed to policy 
documents such as the Corporate Parenting Strategy and content of leaflets 
including in relation to Private Fostering and Information for Care Leavers. This 
is now in place. 

• They have helped recruit key officers including the Director for Children’s 
Services. Senior managers and the Lead Member attend their meetings to hear 
their views and ask them about issues that are affecting children in care and 
care leavers. 

• They are able to pick up themes from the Children’s Rights and Participation 
Service if young people are contacting the service about similar concerns. This 
means that they have significant influence on Service delivery and 
developments.

• Although their voice is heard this does not mean that their views will always 
prevail, for example their views about the Managing Your Own Home Course 
and the LAC Youth worker post. They ensure that their voice is heard nationally 
for example they attend the All Party Parliamentary Group which influences 
government policy and they responded to the government consultation on new 
National Standards for Children’s Homes. As a result, the references to the 
importance of children’s homes in helping prepare young people for 
independence were strengthened.

• They spent time with the OFSTED inspectors in January and told them about 
the impact on young people of frequent changes of social worker and delays in 
plans. They spoke positively about the support that is available in relation to 
education and the positive outcomes for some young people. This was partly 
based on the survey that they carried out on employment/ education and 
training issues. Also they said that Leicester is a good place for children in care 
to live and that they feel that the Pledge has made a difference and that they are 
able to hold people to account for the Services that they deliver. They knew that 
there were challenges in the services because of staffing levels and the 
implementation of Liquid Logic and agreed with many of the concerns identified 
in the OFSTED report.  They want to help the Council build on its strengths and 
improve Services and they are pleased that they have been asked to sit on the 
Improvement Board. 

• They realise that a lot of things are happening to improve things but that it is too 
early to say if they have had an impact. They want to be involved with initiatives 
at an early stage. For example, they feel that the Staying Put policy should have 
been brought to the Children in Care Council at the draft stage and this may 

22



11 | P a g e

have helped avoid some of the challenges there were when it was first 
implemented. They were asked about how to make the Children and Young 
People’s Plan accessible but they were not consulted about what should be the 
priorities/ content of the plan.

• They feel that their involvement with the development of the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment was meaningful and that their views were informing the 
work. 

• They have spent time with health partners and are trying to encourage the 
health community to develop a participation group for young people. They had 
started to develop a ‘Big Conversation’ approach with the Strategic Directors 
and this will be reviewed when the Corporate Parenting Forum meetings are 
resumed. 

6. Elected Members Training 

A programme of training has been implemented, with day and evening sessions 
offered. This will continue

 7. Priorities for the coming year

          As stated the priorities for the Forum over the coming year is firmly based within 
the Improvement Agenda.  

In addition there needs to be ongoing focus on 

• Review the impact of the improvement plans for Residential Care, Adoption and 
Fostering services.

• Raise the profile of internal and external independent providers regarding LAC 
who are at risk of missing from care/or at risk of child sexual exploitation;

• Continue to Co-ordinate work to maximise placement stability for LAC.
• Complete a Placement Sufficiency Review to ensure correlation between cost 

and quality.
• Work with the Children in Care Council on continual improvement of services 

including engaging with all LAC in care about how safe they feel, and are, in the 
care system; including children placed in externally commissioned placements.

• Develop an integrated Service for Care Leavers. 

Cheriel O’Neill
Head of Service, Looked After Children 
July 2015 

23



12 | P a g e

APPENDIX 2

Corporate Parenting 

Terms of Reference for the Corporate Parenting Forum and 
Executive Group

Aims and Principles of the Corporate Parenting Forum 

Corporate Parenting is the collective responsibility of all elected members; council 
officers and agencies towards looked after children and care leavers.  The approach 
taken is that the local authority should be looking after these children and young 
people as other parents would look after their own children.  

The Corporate Parenting Forum plays a key role in ensuring that the Council is 
effectively discharging its duty, as corporate parents, to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of looked after children. To achieve this elected members need to have a clear 
understanding and awareness of the ‘pledge’ they have made to Looked After Children 
in Leicester City so that they can ensure that their responsibilities as corporate parents 
are reflected in all aspects of the work of the Council. 

The main aims of the Corporate Parenting Forum are to ensure improved outcomes for 
looked after children and those leaving care by:  

• Ensuing children are provided with a safe and stable environment where they 
can develop positive and caring relationships with adults and children.

• Achieving the highest possible standard of education and attainment, wherever 
possible in mainstream schools.

• Ensuring that they are helped to be emotionally well and physically fit and 
healthy as possible.

• Understanding their needs and ensure they have realistic aspirations, self-
determination, confidence and resilience to achieve what they want to achieve.

• Supporting and assist their transition to adulthood and promote their economic 
prospects.

• Ensuring children are consulted and influence decisions and plans that affect 
them individually.  

• Ensuring that all requirements are met for Young People in Secure Remand or 
Young Detention Accommodation.

To achieve this, the Forum will ensure services are in are place to:

• Match children to placements that will need their assessed needs.

24



13 | P a g e

• Work with children and young people to resolve any problems they may 
experience.

• Work with other agencies to ensure the children in our care benefit from the 
services they provide.

• Ensure children leave care with support and when they are ready.
• To receive regular reports on the provision of leaving care, housing and training 

services for Care-Leavers.
• Celebrate their achievements and successes
• Listen to their views and ensure they influence policy plans and practice 
• Support families to enable them to contribute to the care of their children.
• Engage with education, employment and training opportunities. 
• Respect and promote their cultural identity.
• Encourage them to become active citizens within their communities.

Corporate Parenting Forum Meetings and Membership

The Corporate Parenting Forum will meet every two months. The agenda and minutes 
will be circulated prior to the meeting.

The Executive Lead for Education, Children, and Families will chair the Forum and the 
Vice Chair will be the Strategic Director of Children’s Services. The lead Officer will be 
Head of Service Children Looked After Children, Education Children and Families

Membership will consist of:

• Senior representatives of all Strategic Directors of the council
• Cross-party representation of elected members 
• Project Worker Looked After Children
• Representative from Learning Environment
• Virtual School Head
• Representative from Legal Services
• Representative from of Leicestershire Cares
• Representative from Youth Offending Services.
• Representative from Health Services
• Representative from Police Services.
• Representative from Foster Careers 
• Representative from the Children in Care Council

Corporate Parent Forum members agree to take into account the needs of Looked 
After Children at every opportunity and will champion the needs of this group in their 
respective service settings.

Corporate Parent Forum meetings will be themed around the services and activities 
designed to improve outcomes for looked after children and young people and in 
accordance with the children‘s ‘Pledge.’ 

Involvement of Elected Members 

The Corporate Parenting forum relies on cross party involvement and commitment. It is 
expected that Members will raise the profile of Looked After Children in the course of 
their duties, political groups and settings.

25



14 | P a g e

A core group of eight elected members will be identified to sit on the Corporate 
Parenting Forum.  It is expected that Elected Members on the Forum will have 
participated in the dedicated training events for members relating to Corporate 
Parenting, Looked After Children and Safeguarding. 

Duties of Officers and Co-opted Forum attendees

All members of the Forum have a responsibility to: 

• Raise the profile of Looked After Children through work and developments in 
their divisions.

• Act as champions for the needs and rights of Looked After Children.
• Prioritise the needs of Looked After Children – e.g. in developing 

apprenticeships.
• To identify resources for Corporate Parenting and use these to good effect – 

e.g. leisure facilities for Looked After Children and their carers.
• To ensure children in care are able to participate in plans for their care and 

developments for service planning and delivery.

The Executive Group

The Executive Group of the Corporate Parenting Forum is a group of partners from 
across the council and other agencies and is responsible for driving forward the 
business priorities of the forum.  

The Executive Group shall meet at least six times per year, with meetings taking place 
between each forum meeting. 

The Executive Group will be chaired by the Divisional Director, Social Care and 
Safeguarding.  Membership of the Executive will be drawn from members of the 
Corporate Parenting Forum and will include senior representatives from: Social Care 
and Safeguarding from children’s fieldwork, LAC Service and the safeguarding unit; 
Health; and Education (Virtual School), with the option of senior officers from other 
council divisions attending the Executive at appropriate points.  

The Executive Group will drive the work of the Corporate Parenting Forum by:

 Drafting the Action Plan based on priorities set by the Forum and Children in 
Care Council designed to improve outcomes for looked after children and 
those leaving care.   

 Implementing the Action Plan agreed by the Forum and ensuring appropriate 
resources across the council are responsive and can deliver against the 
priorities and targets in the plan.  

26



15 | P a g e

 Ensuring that the Corporate Parenting Forum is accountable to the Children 
in Care Council for the delivery of the Pledge made to children in care, and 
the involvement of looked after children in service planning, design and 
delivery. 

 Determining the response to new Government guidance or other 
developments, including modifying the Action Plan to take account of these 
where necessary.

 Planning the Corporate Parenting Forum meetings. 

 Ensuring key themes/developments in the area of looked after children and 
care leavers are brought to the Forum wherever these have implications for 
the work of the wider agencies represented on the Forum.

 Receiving and responding to performance management reports relating to 
quantitative and qualitative outcome data.  This includes providing regular 
updates to the Forum on progress against the targets and priorities 
contained in the Action Plan.  

Roles and Responsibilities of Executive Group Members 

• To attend all meetings of the Executive Group
• To be a full member of the Corporate Parenting Forum, attend all meetings and 

represent own service areas.  
• To promote/champion looked after children within own service areas and across 

partnerships.  
• To hold own services to account for the quality of looked after children work. 
• Where identified by the Executive Group, to ensure the provision of performance 

management reports to the executive and/or forum.

 
Governance 

The Executive Group is accountable to the Corporate Parenting Forum.

The Corporate Parent Forum will report annually to:

• Children’s Trust 
• Children’s Scrutiny 
• Executive
• Full council
• Children in Care Council 

Corporate Parent Forum will invite the City Mayor to one meeting a year.

27



16 | P a g e

Views of Children and Young People

The Corporate Parenting Forum ensures that the views of children and young people 
are represented through membership on the forum.  In addition, a Project Worker for 
Looked After Children is a Forum member. Evidence of how and where children and 
young people’s views have influenced policy and practice will be incorporated in the 
work of the Forum.

Review

The Terms of Reference will be reviewed in September 2014

Andy Smith
Director
Children’s Social Care and Safeguarding

Cheriel O’Neill
Head of Service  
Looked After Children

August 2013

28



Children, Young People and Schools Scrutiny Commission

Work Programme 2015 – 2016

Meeting
Date Topic Actions Arising Progress

22nd July 
2015
(5.45 
start)

1. Introduction to the department and services
2. Corporate Parenting Annual Report 
3. Ofsted lessons learned and progress made - Scrutiny 

Task Group proposed 

Children, Young People and Schools Scrutiny Commission
FORWARD PLAN ISSUES 

Date of 
meeting

Topic Brief Description Progress

Standing 
item

Performance Reporting and data monitoring Regular performance reports 

TBC Children’s Centres Review Progress on outcomes and performance 
information.

TBC Ofsted Inspection Improvement Plan (including response to 
CSE reports) 

Involvement in and consideration of the 
plan

TBC Education Strategy Consideration of and progress against 
the strategy 

TBC Pathway of care leavers for young people Consider the effectiveness and support 
for care leavers

TBC Early Help Monitoring report and action plan

TBC School Academies Consider the effectiveness and 
performance 

TBC School Admissions Progress on allocation of spaces

29

A
ppendix E




	Agenda
	3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
	Minutes

	6 TERMS OF REFERENCE
	9 INTRODUCTION TO THE COUNCIL'S EDUCATION AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES
	10 CORPORATE PARENTING ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15
	12 WORK PROGRAMME

